
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DESK PACKET 
 
 

(MATERIALS SUBMITTED AFTER 3/6/26) 
 
 
 

8. Ordinance 2026-08:  Authorizing a communications site lease 
agreement with Chugach Electric Association, Inc., in Cooper 
Landing.  

 
 
  



From: David Story
To: Tommy Gossard and Virginia Morgan; Cindy Ecklund; ygalbraith@gmail.com; brandonandheather@live.com;

Kathy Recken; officers@cooperlandingcommunityclub.com; Aldridge, Morgan; APC - Chris Degernes; Ruffner,
Robert; Phillip Miller; David Nees; Hughes, Aaron

Subject: <EXTERNAL-SENDER>20260311 CLAPC Unapproved Minutes
Date: Thursday, March 12, 2026 8:04:08 AM
Attachments: 20260311 CLAPC Agenda Minutes UNAPP.pdf

20251203 CLAPC Regular Meeting Minutes APPRV.pdf

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the KPB system. Please use caution when
responding or providing information. Do not click on links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender, know the content is safe and were expecting the communication.

Hello,
Please find the Unapproved Minutes for the March 11, 2026 CLAPC Regular Meeting and the
Approved Minutes for the December 03, 2025 CLAPC Regular Meeting. Supporting
documents can be found on the CLAPC page of the KPB website
here: https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-
governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-
apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents

Please note that the CLAPC voted to: 

Recommend approval of Ordinance 26-08 regarding the CEA Lease in Cooper
Landing.
Recommend approval of the ordinance Amending KPB Code Sections
17.10.190 and 17.10.250 regarding Casual Use of Borough Land.

Please let me know if you have any questions or need additional information. 
Cheers,
David

-- 
David Story
Cooper Landing Advisory Planning Commission
Secretary

Please direct all electronic communications to:
https://www.kpb.us/planning-dept/planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc 

Please direct all mail to:
Kenai Peninsula Borough Planning Department
Attn: Cooper Landing APC 
144 N Binkley St. 
Soldotna, AK 99669

E8-30

mailto:story.clapc@gmail.com
mailto:tommyginny@gmail.com
mailto:ecklundc@gmail.com
mailto:ygalbraith@gmail.com
mailto:brandonandheather@live.com
mailto:krecken@gmail.com
mailto:officers@cooperlandingcommunityclub.com
mailto:MAldridge@kpb.us
mailto:degernes.apc@gmail.com
mailto:RRuffner@kpb.us
mailto:RRuffner@kpb.us
mailto:pjmillerak@gmail.com
mailto:davidnees395@gmail.com
mailto:AaronHughes@kpb.us
https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents
https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents
https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents
https://www.kpb.us/planning-dept/planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc



March 11, 2026  CLAPC Regular Meeting Tentative Agenda  Page 1 of 4 


 


 


COOPER LANDING ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 


REGULAR MEETING  


LOCATION: COMMUNITY HALL AND ZOOM TELECONFERENCE 


WEDNESDAY, MARCH 11, 2026 


6:00 PM 


UNAPPROVED MINUTES 


 


The March 11, 2026 meeting was both physically open to the public at the Cooper 


Landing Community Hall at 18511 Bean Creek Road, Cooper Landing, AK and available 


for online or telephone participation.   


 


 


1. CALL TO ORDER – 6:03pm 


2. ROLL CALL – H. Harrison, Y. Galbraith, P. Miller, D. Nees, D. Story present. C. 


Degernes, K. Recken excused. 


a. Chugach Backcountry Riders 


3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA – Y. Galbraith moves to approve as written. P. Miller 


seconds. All approve by roll call vote.  


4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES for December 3, 2025 - D. Nees moves to approve 


as written. P. Miller seconds. All approve by roll call vote. 


5. BOROUGH BUSINESS 


a. REPORTS: PLANNING 


i. None 


b. LAND MANAGEMENT – Aaron Hughs, KPB Land Management Agent. 


i. 26-08 CEA Lease in Cooper Landing  


1. [Supporting documents available at 


https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-


permitting/leadership-governance/planning-


commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-


landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents ] 


2. A. Hughes said Chugach Electric Association (CEA) has 


had equipment on the site since the 90’s and a lease 


agreement was developed early on but never executed. He 


said the lease is only for CEA and will not allow other uses 


or users though the KPB will have access to use the tower 


for emergency service communications.  


a. Y. Galbraith asked if this is the same site as the 


ARC TV site. A. Hughes said no and that they are 


close to each other but not the same site.  


b. P. Miller asked how something like this location has 


not had had a lease for so long. He said that it is 


concerning that the paperwork is not in order and 


the KPB is not exempted from adverse possession.  


i. A. Hughes said that this is an effort by the 


KPB to clean up this situation and that the 


KPB has been challenged on adverse 


possession in the past, but it is not subject to 


adverse possession.  



https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents

https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents

https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents

https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents





March 11, 2026  CLAPC Regular Meeting Tentative Agenda  Page 2 of 4 


 


 


c. H. Harrison asked what initiated this lease.  


i. A. Hughes says that there has been a lot of 


review of KPB lands and Land Management 


and the KPB are working to clear issues like 


this up.  


d. D. Nees asked when the KPB got title to this lot.  


i. A. Hughes said he does not have that info.  


e. D. Story asked about the potential of further 


subleases.  


i. A. Hughes said that it is exclusive to CEA 


and that in the event that there was a change 


of site it would initiate a review which 


would include a review of fees.  


f. Y. Galbraith moves to recommend approving the 


Ordinance 26-08 regarding the CEA Lease in 


Cooper Landing. P. Miller seconds. All approve by 


roll call vote.  


ii. Ordinance Amending KPB Code Sections 17.10.190 and 


17.10.250 Regarding Casual Use of Borough Land  


1. [Supporting documents available at 


https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-


permitting/leadership-governance/planning-


commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-


landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents ] 


2. A. Hughes said that this ordinance is in response to 


concerns and complaints that have been submitted by the 


public regarding the use of KPB lands. He said it expedites 


the way parcels can be closed to casual use for purposes 


such as wildfire management.  


3. He said that it also addresses the commercial removal of 


surface and subsurface interests such as commercial levels 


of firewood collection under the auspices of casual use.  


a. He said that this would allow enforcement 


mechanisms to be used more quickly.  


b. He said that there have been more issues near 


towns.  


4. P. Miller said that he wanted to know more about the 


considerations for length of time and the strength of 


enforcement.  


a. A. Hughes explained the use timeframes and 


reasoning behind them. 


5. D. Nees asked why the 20-acre size designation and also 


whether these areas would have signage notifying users.  


a. A. Hughes said the methodology for the 20-acre 


size keeps it away from the higher density 


residential areas. Larger size parcels help to 


disperse the impact.  



https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents

https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents

https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents

https://www.kpb.us/local-governance-and-permitting/leadership-governance/planning-commission/advisory-planning-commissions/cooper-landing-apc#apc-meeting-information-and-documents





March 11, 2026  CLAPC Regular Meeting Tentative Agenda  Page 3 of 4 


 


 


b. He said that there is also a mechanism for proposing 


for or against parcels being considered for casual 


use.  


c. He said that there will not be signage in general but 


instead the parcel viewer will be the primary way to 


find the casual use parcels.  


6. Y. Galbraith asked about areas like those near the Russian 


Gap area.  


a. A. Hughes said that during the review if there are 


concerns of health or safety the parcels could be 


petitioned for or against casual use.  


7. S. Schilling with Chugach Backcountry Freeriders asked if 


this is amending the KPB Code.  


a. A. Hughes said that it is amending KPB Code but 


that there has not been a Casual Use Ordinance in 


the KPB in the past. He said that Land Management 


had informal use recommendations meant to align 


with surrounding land managers policies.  


b. S. Schilling asked for clarity on the reason for the 


ordinance.  


i. A. Hughes said that, yes, this is in part 


meant to address issues and help response to 


the issues that have been experienced.  


c. S. Schilling asked if their had been studies.  


i. A. Hughes said there had not been studies 


and much of the responses have been based 


off of public complaints. He gave the 


example of encampments near Tsalteshi 


Trails that included burned cars and required 


significant resources to resolve.  


d. D. Nees asked how you know how long someone 


has been on the land.  


i. A. Hughes said they don’t. He said that they 


don’t need to get a permit though they might 


if they want to guarantee they have a place 


for a hunting camp etc. He said that most of 


the issues will be complaint driven.  


1. He said that generally if a complaint 


is made the clock begins once an 


initial contact is made unless other 


violations are observed etc.  


e. H. Harrison asked about firewood cutting and the 


process to do so appropriately.  


i. A. Hughes said that you would apply for a 


land use permit for specific use.  


f. D. Story said he wanted to repeat back what he was 


hearing to clarify his understanding. He said what 


he was hearing was that if an individual plans 







March 11, 2026  CLAPC Regular Meeting Tentative Agenda  Page 4 of 4 


 


 


casual use of KPB land for something like firewood 


harvest, they can do so without a permit on any 


parcel designated for casual use but that if there is a 


KPB parcel that is not designated for casual use – 


less than 20 contiguous acres etc. – that they can 


apply for a land use permit to do so or petition for 


that parcel to be designated as casual use through 


the KPB. He said that true casual use of other KPB 


parcels that may not be designated for casual use 


seemed unlikely to trigger complaints and thereby 


enforcement. A. Hughes acknowledged that 


understanding to be correct. 


g. H. Harrison said the takeaway for her was that since 


it will be complaint driven this ordinance just gives 


an enforcement mechanism to the KPB.  


h. Y. Galbraith moves to recommend approval of the 


Ordinance Amending KPB Code Sections 


17.10.190 and 17.10.250 Regarding Casual Use of 


Borough Land.  P. Miller seconds. D. Nees votes 


no. Y. Galbraith, H. Harrison, P. Miller, D. Story 


vote yes. Motion passes. 


6. OLD BUSINESS – none.  


7. NEW BUSINESS – none. 


8. PUBLIC COMMENT/PRESENTATION 


a. Sam Schilling said that he runs Chugach Backcountry Freeriders, a non-


profit on the Kenai Peninsula that has resources for trail maintenance and 


grooming. He shared the website and his email: www.akcbf.org 


president@akcbf.org. 


9. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS – none.  


10. ADJOURNMENT – Y. Galbraith moves to adjourn at 6:54pm. D. Nees seconds. 


All approve.  


 


 


For more information or to submit comments please contact:  


Contact the Cooper Landing APC at:  


• For email visit: https://www.kpb.us/ On the upper right-hand side of the page is a box 


titled, “Search”.  Search for, “Cooper Landing APC” and on the homepage expand 


“Send a message to the Cooper Landing APC Commissioners” tab. 


  


• Send USPS mail to: Kenai Peninsula Borough Planning Department, Attn: CLAPC 


144 N Binkley, Soldotna, AK 99669  


 



http://www.akcbf.org/

https://www.kpb.us/






December 3, 2025 CLAPC Regular Meeting Tentative Agenda  Page 1 of 3 


 


 


COOPER LANDING ADVISORY PLANNING COMMISSION 


REGULAR MEETING  


LOCATION: COMMUNITY HALL AND ZOOM TELECONFERENCE 


WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 8, 2025 


6:00 PM 


UNAPPROVED MINUTES 


 


The December 3, 2025 meeting was both physically open to the public at the Cooper 


Landing Community Hall at 18511 Bean Creek Road, Cooper Landing, AK and available 


for online or telephone participation.   


 


1. CALL TO ORDER 


2. ROLL CALL  


a. C. Degernes, Y. Galbraith, K. Recken, D. Nees, D. Story present. P. Miller 


attending by Zoom. H. Harrison excused. 


b. Morgan Aldridge, KPB Habitat Planner attending by Zoom.  


c. Members of the public: 


i. Nick Vanderhoff, Christine Nees present in person.  


ii. Janette Cadieux attended by Zoom 


3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 


a. D. Nees moved to approve the agenda as amended.  


b. Y. Galbrath seconds. All approved by roll call vote.  


4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES for October 8, 2025 meeting 


a. Y. Galbraith moved to approve the minutes.  


b. K. Recken seconds. All approve by roll call vote.  


5. CORRESPONDENCE – none. 


6. PUBLIC COMMENT/PRESENTATION WITHOUT PREVIOUS NOTICE – 


none. 


7. REPORT FROM BOROUGH  


1. Conditional Use Permit Application 


a. Sterling Highway MP 45-60 Project Phase 1B:  


i. Authorization for placement of fill and related 


construction activities within KPB 50-foot Habitat 


Protection District 


b. Morgan Aldridge, KPB Habitat Planner 


i. M. Aldridge gave a brief explanation of the permit 


application process and subsequent staff review to 


ensure that an application meets the criteria to be heard 


by the KPB Planning Commission.  


ii. She also read the general description of project 


activities from the KPB Staff Report on the application. 


iii. K. Recken asked about why the road will need 


stabilization below the new path when the existing road 


had been stabilized by existing earth prior.  


1. M. Aldridge explained the criteria of the 


application but said she could not speak to the 


engineering plan.  







December 3, 2025 CLAPC Regular Meeting Tentative Agenda  Page 2 of 3 


 


 


iv. P. Miller asked about whether we should be doing 


anything outside assessing this application for whether 


it is valid and complete. He asked about whether our 


role for this is legislative or quasi-judicial nature.  


1. C. Degernes explained the APC role through the 


example of plats. 


2. D. Story explained the APC role in the context 


of local recommendations for the Planning 


Commission and said this example is of the 


quasi-judicial nature. 


v. D. Nees asked whether the DNR has approved this 


project since it is the affected landowner. 


1. M. Aldridge said that the DNR received the 


application package for review but that she did 


not believe they had yet responded. 


vi. C. Degernes said she did not see a species breakdown 


of trees for revegetation.  


1. She said she would like to consider a 


recommendation to avoid birch and willow as 


the trees used for revegetation to help limit the 


attraction to moose and thereby potential road 


hazards.  


2. M. Aldridge said that such a recommendation is 


appropriate.  


vii. P. Miller said that most of the area covered by this 


permit has been previously disturbed and revegetation 


may be an improvement for this area. 


c. Y. Galbraith moved to recommend approval of the permit 


application with the recommendation to request project 


planners avoid using willow, birch or other species that are 


particularly attractive to moose for revegetation. D. Story 


seconds.  


i. C. Nees said that many types of vegetation will grow 


regardless of what is planted.  


ii. All approve by roll call vote. 


2. 2026 APC Calendar available on the KPB APC Website 


a. M. Aldridge noted that the November 2026 meeting will fall on 


a KPB holiday.  


8. OLD BUSINESS – none. 


9. NEW BUSINESS – none. 


10. INFORMATION and ANNOUNCEMENTS – none.  


11. COMMISSIONER’S COMMENTS – K. Recken said that there is concern about 


the sloughing on Snug Harbor Road and would like to learn more about DOT’s 


observations. Y. Galbraith said she would reach out to DOT to attend or comment 


at the next CLCC meeting. 







December 3, 2025 CLAPC Regular Meeting Tentative Agenda  Page 3 of 3 


 


 


12. ADJOURNMENT – D. Nees moves to adjourn. Y. Galbraith seconds. All 


approve by roll call vote. 6:33pm 


 


 


For more information or to submit comments please contact:  


Contact the Cooper Landing APC at:  


• For email visit: https://www.kpb.us/ On the upper right-hand side of the page is a box 


titled, “Search”.  Search for, “Cooper Landing APC” and on the homepage expand 


“Send a message to the Cooper Landing APC Commissioners” tab. 


  


• Send USPS mail to: Kenai Peninsula Borough Planning Department, Attn: CLAPC 


144 N Binkley, Soldotna, AK 99669  


 



https://www.kpb.us/



Ann Shirnberg
Highlight




